

# abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust

Annual Long Report For the year ended 31 January 2025

# **Contents**

Report of the Manager	3
Statement of Manager's Responsibilities	5
Manager's Statement	5
Statement of the Trustee's Responsibilities	6
Independent Auditor's Report to the Unitholders	7
Investment Report	10
Comparative Table	14
Portfolio Statement	15
Financial Statements	18
Notes to the Financial Statements	20
Distribution Table	30
Remuneration (Unaudited)	31
Further Information	34

# Report of the Manager

abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust (the "fund") is an authorised unit trust scheme under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. The effective date of the authorisation order made by the Financial Services Authority (the "FCA") was 26 March 1986.

The fund was established by Trust Deed entered into on 25 March 1986 and is an authorised unit trust scheme which falls into the category of UCITS scheme. Its FCA Product Reference Number ("PRN") is 109496.

#### **Appointments**

#### Manager

abrdn Fund Managers Limited

#### Registered office

280 Bishopsgate London EC2M 4AG

#### Investment Adviser

abrdn Investment Management Limited

#### Registered office

1 George Street Edinburgh EH2 2LL

#### Trustee

Citibank UK Limited

#### Registered office

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB

#### Registrar

SS&C Financial Services Europe Limited SS&C House St. Nicholas Lane Basildon Essex SS15 5FS

#### Independent Auditor

KPMG LLP St Vincent Plaza 319 St Vincent Street Glasgow G2 5AS

#### Correspondence address

PO Box 12233 Chelmsford CM99 2EE

#### Correspondence address

1 George Street Edinburgh EH2 2LL

# Report of the Manager

#### Continued

#### **Significant Events**

The military offensive from Russia against Ukraine since February 2022 continues to pose widespread sanctions on Russian assets. Geopolitical events can adversely affect assets of funds and performance thereon. To ensure the fair treatment of investors, Aberdeen's Investor Protection Committee (IPC) undertakes regular reviews of market liquidity across each asset class and fund, making appropriate adjustments where necessary.

Aberdeen's Valuation and Pricing Committee (VPC) also continue to review the valuation of assets and the recoverability of income from those assets making appropriate adjustments where necessary. The VPC is made up of a wide range of specialists across Aberdeen with a wide range of experience in asset pricing.

As at 31 January 2025, abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust has not been suspended and based on the Manager's assessment of the factors noted, above, has adequate financial resources to continue in operation.

Effective 12 March 2025 abrdn plc changed name to Aberdeen Group plc.

#### Developments and Prospectus Updates Since 1 February 2024

- On 27 February 2024, Martin Kwiatkowski was appointed as a director of abrdn Fund Managers Limited;
- On 15 March 2024, Fraser Tulloch was appointed as a director of abrdn Fund Managers Limited;
- On 2 September 2024, Michael Champion and Philip Wagstaff were appointed as directors of abrdn Fund Managers Limited;
- On 27 November 2024, Jamie Matheson and Carolan Dobson resigned as directors of abrdn Fund Managers Limited;
- The list of funds managed by the Trust Manager was updated, where appropriate;
- Performance and dilution figures were refreshed, where appropriate;
- The list of sub-custodians was refreshed, where appropriate;
- The list of eligible markets was refreshed, where appropriate;
- The list of sub-investment advisors to the funds was refreshed, where appropriate;
- The risk disclosures in relation to the funds were refreshed, where appropriate.

#### Assessment of Value (Unaudited)

In 2017 the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) published the final Asset Management Market Study. This introduced (among other reforms) new governance rules with the aim of enhancing duty of care and ensuring the industry acts in investors' best interests. The rules were outlined in the FCA policy statement PS18/8 and came into effect from 30 September 2019. As a result, abrdn Fund Managers Limited is required to perform a detailed assessment on whether our funds are "providing value to investors". The resulting findings will be published within 4 months of the fund year end date and can be found on the 'Fund Centre' pages of our website.

# Climate-related Financial Disclosures (Unaudited)

The recommendations by the Taskforce for Climaterelated Financial Disclosures (TCFD) - initiated by the Financial Stability Board in 2015 and adopted in 2017 - provide organisations with a consistent framework for disclosing financial impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities. The disclosure in line with TCFD recommendations enables external stakeholders to gain a better understanding of the climate-related risks and opportunities (including how they are managed) that are likely to impact the organisation's future financial position as reflected in its income statement, cash flow statement, and balance sheet. The TCFD has developed 11 recommendations which are structured around four thematic areas, notably governance, strategy, risk management and metrics and target. In Policy Statement 21/24 the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) have created a regulatory framework for asset managers, life insurers and FCA-regulated pension providers to make climaterelated disclosures consistent with the recommendations of the TCFD. As a result of the disclosure requirements the fund is required to perform a detailed annual assessment, determining financial impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities. The resulting findings are published on our website at Fund literature | aberdeen.

# Statement of Manager's Responsibilities

The Collective Investment Schemes sourcebook published by the FCA, ("the COLL Rules") require the Manager to prepare financial statements for each interim and annual accounting period which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the fund and of the net revenue and net capital gains or losses on the property of the fund for the period.

In preparing the financial statements the Manager is responsible for:

- · selecting suitable accounting policies and then applying them consistently;
- · making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- following UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland;
- complying with the disclosure requirements of the Statement of Recommended Practice for UK Authorised Funds issued by the Investment Association in May 2014;
- keeping proper accounting records which enable it to demonstrate that the financial statements as prepared comply with the above requirements;
- · assessing the fund's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern;
- using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the fund or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so;
- such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
- taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and irregularities.

The Manager is responsible for the management of the fund in accordance with its Trust Deed, the Prospectus and the COLL Rules.

The Manager is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on its website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

# Manager's Statement

In accordance with the requirements of the COLL Rules as issued and amended by the Financial Conduct Authority, we hereby certify the report on behalf of abrdn Fund Managers Limited, the Authorised Fund Manager.

**Aron Mitchell**Director
28 April 2025

**Adam Shanks** Director 28 April 2025

# Statement of the Trustee's Responsibilities in Respect of the Scheme and Report of the Trustee to the Unitholders of the abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust for the period ended 31 January 2025

It is the duty of the Trustee to take reasonable care to ensure that the Trust is managed in accordance with the Financial Conduct Authority' Collective Investment Schemes Sourcebook ("the Sourcebook"), the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended, [the Money Market Funds Regulation, as amended]\* (together "the Regulations"), and the Trust Deed and the Prospectus of the Trust (together "the Scheme documents") as detailed below.

The Trustee must in the context of its role act honestly, fairly, professionally, independently and in the interests of the Trust and its investors.

The Trustee is responsible for the safekeeping all custodial assets and maintaining a record of all other assets of the Trust in accordance with the Regulations.

The Trustee must ensure that:

- the Trust's cash flows are properly monitored, and that cash of the Trust is booked in cash accounts in accordance with the Regulations;
- · the sale, issue, repurchase, redemption and cancellation of units are carried out in accordance with the Regulations;
- the value of units of the Trust are calculated in accordance with the Regulations;
- $\boldsymbol{\cdot}$  the Trust's income is applied in accordance with the Regulations; and
- the instructions of the Authorised Fund Manager ("the AFM"), which is the UCITS Management Company, are carried out (unless they conflict with the Regulations).

Having carried out procedures and enquiries considered duly necessary to discharge our responsibilities as Trustee of the scheme, based on information and explanations provided to us, we believe that, in all material respects, the AFM:

- (i) has carried out the issue, sale, redemption and cancellation, and calculation of the price of the Trust's units and the application of the Trust's income in accordance with the Regulation and the Scheme Documents of the Trust; and,
- (ii) has observed the investment and borrowing powers and restrictions applicable to the Trust.

Citibank UK Limited

28 April 2025

# Independent Auditor's Report to the Unitholders of the abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust ('the fund')

#### **Opinion**

We have audited the financial statements of the fund for the year ended 31 January 2025 which comprise the Statement of Total Return, the Statement of Change in Unitholders' Funds, the Balance Sheet, the Related Notes and Distribution Table for the fund and the accounting policies set out on pages 20 to 21.

In our opinion the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view, in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland, of the financial position of the fund as at 31 January 2025 and of the net revenue and the net capital gains on the property of the fund for the year then ended; and
- have been properly prepared in accordance with the Trust Deed, the Statement of Recommended Practice relating to Authorised Funds, and the COLL Rules.

#### **Basis for opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the fund in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard.

We have received all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit and we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

#### Going concern

The Manager has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the fund or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the fund's financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements ("the going concern period").

In our evaluation of the Manager's conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the fund's business model and analysed how those risks might affect the fund's financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

 we consider that the Manager's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate;  we have not identified, and concur with the Manager's assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the fund's ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that the fund will continue in operation.

# Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect

# Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud ("fraud risks") we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:

- Enquiring of directors as to the fund's high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
- Assessing the segregation of duties in place between the Manager, the Trustee, the Administrator and the Investment Adviser;
- · Reading board minutes.

As required by auditing standards, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because the revenue is principally non-judgemental and based on publicly available information, with limited opportunity for manipulation. We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

We evaluated the design and implementation of the controls over journal entries and other adjustments and made inquiries of the Administrator about inappropriate or unusual activity relating to the processing of journal entries and other adjustments. We identified and selected a sample of journal entries made at the end of the reporting period and tested those substantively including all material post-closing entries. Based on the results of our risk assessment procedures and understanding of the process, including the segregation of duties between the Directors and the Administrator, no further high-risk journal entries or other adjustments were identified.

# Independent Auditor's Report to the Unitholders of the abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust ('the fund')

#### Continued

# Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience and through discussion with the Manager and the Administrator (as required by auditing standards) and discussed with the Directors the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the fund is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial reporting legislation (including related authorised fund legislation maintained by the Financial Conduct Authority) and taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the fund is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: money laundering, data protection and bribery and corruption legislation recognising the fund's activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the Directors and the Administrator and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.

Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

# Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

#### Other information

The Manager is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

- we have not identified material misstatements in the other information; and
- in our opinion the information given in the Manager's Report for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements.

# Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where under the COLL Rules we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- proper accounting records for the fund have not been kept; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records.

#### Manager's responsibilities

As explained more fully in its statement set out on page 5, the Manager is responsible for: the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the fund's ability to continue as a going

# Independent Auditor's Report to the Unitholders of the abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust ('the fund')

#### Continued

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the fund or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

#### Auditor's responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

# The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the fund's unitholders, as a body, in accordance with Rule 4.5.12 of the Collective Investment Schemes sourcebook ('the COLL Rules') issued by the Financial Conduct Authority under section 247 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the fund's unitholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the fund and the fund's unitholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Wiqas Qaiser for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor Chartered Accountants 20 Castle Terrace Edinburgh EH1 2EG 28 April 2025

#### Investment Objective

To generate growth over the long term (5 years or more) by investing in US equities (company shares).

Performance Target: To achieve the return of the S&P 500 Index, plus 2% per annum over rolling three year periods (before charges). The Performance Target is the level of performance that the management team hopes to achieve for the fund. There is however no certainty or promise that they will achieve the Performance Target.

Performance Comparator: The Investment Association North America Equity Sector Average.

The Manager believes this is an appropriate target/comparator for the fund based on the investment policy of the fund and the constituents of the index/sector.

#### **Investment Policy**

#### Portfolio Securities

- The fund will invest at least 70% in equities and equity related securities of companies listed, incorporated or domiciled in the US or companies that derive a significant proportion of their revenues or profits from US operations or have a significant proportion of their assets there.
- The fund may also invest in companies listed, incorporated or domiciled in Canada or Latin America.
- The fund may also invest in other funds (including those managed by abrdn), money-market instruments, and cash.

#### **Management Process**

- The management team use their discretion (active management) to maintain a diverse asset mix at sector and stock level.
- Their primary focus is on stock selection using research techniques to select individual holdings. The research process is focused on identifying companies where the management team have a different view of a company's prospects to that of the market, and which align with their views regarding future economic and business conditions.
- In seeking to achieve the Performance Target, the S&P 500 Index is used as a reference point for portfolio construction and as a basis for setting risk constraints. The expected variation ("tracking error") between the returns of the fund and the index is not ordinarily expected to exceed 6%. Due to the fund's risk constraints, the intention is that the fund's performance profile will not deviate significantly from that of the S&P 500 Index over the longer term.

#### **Derivatives and Techniques**

- The fund may use derivatives to reduce risk, to reduce cost and/or generate additional income or growth consistent with the risk profile of the fund (often referred to as "Efficient Portfolio Management").
- Derivative usage in the fund is expected to be very limited. Where derivatives are used, this would mainly be in response to significant inflows into the fund so that in these instances, cash can be invested while maintaining the fund's existing allocations to company shares.

#### Performance Review

The value of abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust – Institutional Accumulation Shares returned 24.73% over the period versus a return of 25.39% for the performance comparator, the IA North America Equity Sector Average.

Fund data source: ABOR; Basis: total return, published NAV to NAV, net of annual charges, UK net income reinvested, GBP. Benchmark data source: Morningstar. Please note the Trust performance is quoted net of fees while the index return is quoted gross and contains no adjustment for fees.

Any data contained herein which is attributed to a third party ("Third Party Data") is the property of (a) third party supplier(s) (the "Owner") and is licensed for use by Aberdeen\*. Third Party Data may not be copied or distributed. Third Party Data is provided "as is" and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. To the extent permitted by applicable law, none of the Owner, Aberdeen\* or any other third party (including any third party involved in providing and/or compiling Third Party Data) shall have any liability for Third Party Data or for any use made of Third Party Data. Neither the Owner nor any other third party sponsors, endorses or promotes the fund or product to which Third Party Data relates.

\*Aberdeen means the relevant member of the Aberdeen Group, being Aberdeen Group plc together with its subsidiaries, subsidiary undertakings and associated companies (whether direct or indirect) from time to time.

Please remember that past performance is not a guide to future returns. The price of shares and the revenue from them may fall as well as rise. Investors may not get back the amount originally invested.

Companies selected for illustrative purposes only to demonstrate the investment management style described herein and not as an investment recommendation or indication of future performance.

Sector wise, the information technology and consumer discretionary sectors were notable detractors from performance. Meanwhile, the financials and energy sectors were favourable.

At the stock level, our underweight to Nvidia hurt performance. Its shares performed well on the back of better-than-expected sales growth and upgrades to full-year expectations, before suffering later in the review period due to the emergence of Chinese

#### Continued

start-up DeepSeek's cost-effective Al models, which raised concerns about increased competition in the Al chip market. Lululemon Athletica also detracted from performance. Its shares declined and we sold our position as we see growing evidence that the active apparel category is slowing meaningfully following years of exceptional growth. This combined with more competition could potentially make Lululemon struggle to grow in the US, its most material market. Meanwhile, our lack of exposure to Tesla was unfavourable, as its shares benefited from investor perceptions of a more favourable regulatory approach to autonomous vehicles post the election result. Not holding Meta also weighed on performance as the shares responded positively to better-than-expected revenue, which was helped by the company's new Al-powered tools for small business advertising. Advanced Drainage Systems' shares were weak as the company announced results that fell short of expectations and lowered guidance for fiscal-year 2025. This stoked fears that the company has been overearning during the inflationary period and that it has less pricing power than previously perceived. However, we believe that this is primarily due to weak non-residential markets, and we remain confident that the current margin profile is sustainable as raw material costs normalise and end markets bottom.

Conversely, Goldman Sachs Group was positive as investor expectations regarding a Trump presidency potentially boosting mergers and acquisitions led to the outperformance of the shares. Marvell Technology's shares were strong after its results showed positive growth guidance, which matched expectations, and better gross margins. The news of Amazon committing to buying significant amounts of Marvell's custom Al chips in 2025 also particularly helped the shares. Boston Scientific Corporation also added to returns as the company's strong results bolstered investor expectations in its highgrowth products within the medical devices portfolio, most significantly the new products for treating atrial fibrillation. Baker Hughes was also favourable. Its shares performed strongly on the back of President Trump's re-election, given investor expectations that a pause on liquefied natural gas (LNG) project permits will be lifted early next year. Operationally, the company is performing well, with a growing backlog in Gas Technology Equipment, driven by investments in LNG infrastructure. Meanwhile, Broadcom's shares were strong and contributed to performance after the company posted solid semiconductor results and commentary around Al opportunities among its core customers over the coming years.

#### **Market Review**

US share prices rose strongly over the 12-month period. In particular, there was a strong performance by technology-related companies. These stocks are especially sensitive to the end of monetary tightening and the prospect of rate cuts due to the favourable effect on their future discounted earnings. However, the emergence of a low-cost, cutting-edge artificial intelligence (AI) model from Chinese start-up DeepSeek later in the period raised questions about the dominance of US technology giants in the field.

Faced with a relatively robust economy, the US Federal Reserve (Fed) continued to maintain a restrictive policy stance for much of the period. However, after a sustained fall in annual inflation and some mixed US economic data, it lowered the target range for the federal funds rate by 50 basis points (bps) in September, then by 25 bps in both November and December, taking it to 4.25-4.50%. US equities performed well early in the review period as encouraging inflation trends led to optimism about future interest-rate cuts. However, equities weakened in April on fears of interest rates staying higher for longer. Equities rebounded in May and June, though, due to fresh hopes of interest-rate cuts, as well as better-than-expected corporate earnings. Fears of a US recession caused a sell-off in equities from mid-July to the start of August. However, equities resumed their upward trend towards the end of the period, supported in November by President Trump's election win, given his pro-growth agenda of tax cuts, deregulation and increased infrastructure spending. Nevertheless, concerns about interest rates staying higher for longer resurfaced in December, leading to a weak month for equities. Subsequently, the Fed held the target range for the federal funds rate in January. President Trump has recently put pressure on the central bank by calling for lower interest rates, even as the Fed aims to proceed cautiously, taking a data-dependent approach as it seeks greater clarity on underlying economic trends.

#### Portfolio Activity and Review

In key portfolio activity, we initiated Nvidia albeit maintaining an underweight position, to reflect our positive view on the prospects for Al. We introduced NXP Semiconductors as we see strong structural growth prospects, particularly in semiconductors for automotives, which should become increasingly apparent as the current inventory digestion cycle passes. We also initiated ServiceNow. The company's software platform acts as a data connector across organisations to automate their repetitive processes. This enables ServiceNow to

#### Continued

gradually expand its offering to an increased number of functions at each of its clients. As wallet share from existing customers drives most of its revenue growth, we believe there is more visibility on the revenue trajectory. We also think that earnings could continue to grow. Meanwhile, we initiated Advanced Drainage Systems as we are positive on the company's continued strong pricing power, and the potential high cash generation which can be reinvested. It should also benefit from infrastructure and climateresilience spending going forward. Lastly, we introduced Linde, with sustained growth opportunities from the use of hydrogen across chemical supply chains to lower carbon emissions.

Conversely, we sold Air Products & Chemicals as we are concerned about ongoing execution risks at its large projects. We disposed of CenterPoint Energy due to poor management of the hurricane-damage impact in Texas, which we think has left the company more at risk of poor rate-case outcomes or other regulatory action. Meanwhile, we sold CVS Health on the back of rising risks at its consumer-pharmacy-store business given the profit warnings from peers. We also sold American Tower, which is highly sensitive to interest rates and so remains vulnerable to slower-than-expected interest-rate cuts. Lastly, we sold Royalty Pharma as we have less confidence in the company's ability to make acquisitions of further royalty streams in a prolonged higher interest-rate environment.

#### Portfolio Outlook and Strategy

With President Donald Trump securing his second term, uncertainty around election results has been replaced with policy ambiguity. Deregulation and tax cuts are supportive of GDP growth, but incremental tariffs and immigration restrictions could mute these gains. This combination of looser fiscal policy coupled with potential supply-side shocks raises inflation expectations. As a result, we expect Fed rate cuts to slow in 2025 while we await increased visibility over the policy agenda and its resulting impact on inflation.

#### February 2025

#### Continued

#### Risk and Reward Profile

The Risk and Reward Indicator table demonstrates where the fund ranks in terms of its potential risk and reward. The higher the rank the greater the potential reward but the greater the risk of losing money. It is based on past data, may change over time and may not be a reliable indication of the future risk profile of the fund. The table below shows the fund's ranking on the Risk and Reward Indicator. The risk and reward indicator changed from 5 to 6 on 24 September 2024.

# Typically lower rewards, lower risk Typically higher rewards, higher risk ← — — — 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Risk and reward indicator table as at 31 January 2025.

The fund is rated as 6 because of the extent to which the following risk factors apply:

- Equity Risk The fund invests in equity and equity related securities. These are sensitive to variations in the stock markets which can be volatile and change substantially in short periods of time.
- Concentration Risk A concentrated portfolio (whether by number of holdings, geographic location or sector) may be more volatile and less liquid than a diversified one.
- Derivatives Risk The use of derivatives may involve additional liquidity, credit and counterparty risks. In some cases the risk of loss from derivatives may be increased where a small change in the value of the underlying investment may have a larger impact on the value of the derivative.

All investment involves risk. This fund offers no guarantee against loss or that the fund's objective will be attained.

The price of assets and the income from them may go down as well as up and cannot be guaranteed; an investor may receive back less than their original investment.

Inflation reduces the buying power of your investment and income.

The value of assets held in the fund may rise and fall as a result of exchange rate fluctuations.

The fund could lose money if an entity (counterparty) with which it does business becomes unwilling or unable to honour its obligations to the fund.

In extreme market conditions some securities may become hard to value or sell at a desired price. This could affect the fund's ability to meet redemptions in a timely manner.

The fund could lose money as the result of a failure or delay in operational processes and systems including but not limited to third party providers failing or going into administration.

# Comparative Table

	2025	2024	2023
Institutional accumulation	pence per unit	pence per unit	pence per unit
Change in net assets per unit			
Opening net asset value per unit	493.57	436.12	453.73
Return before operating charges*	137.80	61.26	(13.89)
Operating charges	(4.68)	(3.81)	(3.72)
Return after operating charges*	133.12	57.45	(17.61)
Distributions	(0.50)	(2.37)	(1.74)
Retained distributions on accumulation units	0.50	2.37	1.74
Closing net asset value per unit	626.69	493.57	436.12
* after direct transaction costs of:	0.11	0.12	0.13
Performance			
Return after charges	26.97%	13.17%	(3.88%)
Other information			
Closing net asset value (£'000)	280,390	275,724	292,774
Closing number of units	44,741,135	55,862,866	67,131,600
Operating charges	0.85%	0.85%	0.85%
Direct transaction costs	0.02%	0.03%	0.03%
Prices			
Highest unit price	639.2	504.3	476.8
Lowest unit price	497.0	410.1	395.8

The closing net asset value (£'000) divided by the closing number of units may not calculate to the closing net asset value per unit (p) due to rounding differences. The published closing net asset value per unit (p) is based on unrounded values and represents the actual price.

The return after charges figures are based on the accounting NAV, as the financial statements are produced at a valuation point that is different from the published daily NAV.

The return after charges figures are based on the accounting NAV, as the financial statements are produced at a valuation point that is different from the published daily NAV. Operating charges are expenses associated with the maintenance and administration of the fund on a day to day basis that are actually borne by the unit class. Highest and Lowest prices are based on official published daily NAVs.

# Portfolio Statement

# As at 31 January 2025

Holding	Investment	Market value £'000	Percentage of total net assets
quities (97.21%)		275,228	98.16
nited States Equities (	97.21%)	275,228	98.16
ommunication Service	es (6.60%)	18,940	6.75
44,330	Alphabet 'A'	7,278	2.59
70,505	Alphabet 'C'	11,662	4.16
onsumer Discretiona	ry (12.76%)	35,748	12.75
104,032	Amazon.com	19,890	7.09
6,921	O'Reilly Automotive	7,206	2.57
86,172	TJX	8,652	3.09
onsumer Staples (5.1	0%)	15,041	5.36
11,170	Costco Wholesale	8,806	3.14
46,676	Procter & Gamble	6,235	2.22
nergy (3.83%)		11,794	4.21
193,082	Baker Hughes	7,178	2.56
28,749	ConocoPhillips	2,286	0.82
66,762	Enbridge	2,330	0.83
nancials (15.89%)		50,821	18.13
24,230	American Express	6,184	2.21
87,410	Charles Schwab	5,815	2.07
48,969	Fiserv	8,512	3.04
16,422	Goldman Sachs	8,456	3.02
19,100	LPL Financial	5,640	2.01
21,132	Mastercard 'A'	9,449	3.37
57,948	MetLife	4,035	1.44
5,690	MSCI	2,730	0.97

# Portfolio Statement

# As at 31 January 2025 continued

Holding	Investment	Market value £'000	Percentage of total net assets
Health Care (16.16%)		33,722	12.03
103,094	Boston Scientific	8,494	3.03
21,536	Danaher	3,861	1.38
10,273	Eli Lilly	6,706	2.39
53,081	Merck & Co	4,221	1.5.
22,033	ResMed	4,190	1.49
14,312	UnitedHealth	6,250	2.23
Industrials (5.47%)		18,906	6.74
26,986	Advanced Drainage Systems	2,624	0.93
70,789	Canadian Pacific Kansas City	4,534	1.6
15,654	Hubbell	5,325	1.9
7,179	Veralto	597	0.2
32,864	Waste Management	5,826	2.0
Information Technolog	gy (26.31%)	83,997	29.9
14,193	Accenture 'A'	4,395	1.5
27,472	Analog Devices	4,684	1.6
64,706	Apple	12,281	4.3
55,062	Broadcom	9,799	3.4
13,552	Cadence Design Systems	3,246	1.1
63,944	Marvell Technology	5,805	2.0
65,886	Microsoft	22,004	7.8
16,678	Nice ADR	2,230	0.7
92,312	NVIDIA	8,914	3.1
26,723	NXP Semiconductors	4,484	1.6
7,510	ServiceNow	6,155	2.2
Materials (1.15%)		2,471	0.8
6,887	Linde	2,471	0.8

# Portfolio Statement

# As at 31 January 2025 continued

Holding	Investment	Market value £'000	Percentage of total net assets
Real Estate (1.05%)		-	-
Utilities (2.89%)		3,788	1.35
71,276	CMS Energy	3,788	1.35
Collective Investmen	t Schemes (2.87%)	5,279	1.88
6,560	abrdn Liquidity Fund (Lux) – US Dollar Fund Z1 Inc+	5,279	1.88
Total investment ass	ets	280,507	100.04
Net other liabilities		(117)	(0.04)
Total Net Assets		280,390	100.00

All investments are listed on recognised stock exchanges and are approved securities, or are regulated collective investment schemes within the meaning of the FCA rules. The percentage figures in brackets show the comparative holding as at 31 January 2024.

+ Managed by subsidiaries of Aberdeen Group plc (formerly abrdn plc).

# **Financial Statements**

#### Statement of Total Return

For the year ended 31 January 2025

		2025		20	)24
	Notes	€′000	£′000	£′000	£′000
Income:					
Net capital gains	3		68,097		32,666
Revenue	4	3,143		4,390	
Expenses	5	(2,442)		(2,349)	
Net revenue before taxation		701		2,041	
Taxation	6	(386)		(555)	
Net revenue after taxation			315		1,486
Total return before distributions			68,412		34,152
Distributions	7		(315)		(1,486)
Change in unitholders' funds from investment activities			68,097		32,666

## Statement of Change in Unitholders' Funds

For the year ended 31 January 2025

	2025		2024	
	£′000	£′000	£′000	£′000
Opening net assets		275,724		292,774
Amounts receivable on the issue of units	37,829		14,751	
Amounts payable on the cancellation of units	(101,489)		(65,806)	
		(63,660)		(51,055)
Dilution adjustment		7		18
Change in unitholders' funds from investment activities				
(see above)		68,097		32,666
Retained distribution on accumulation units		222		1,321
Closing net assets		280,390		275,724

# Financial Statements

## Continued

#### **Balance Sheet**

As at 31 January 2025

		2025		2025		2025 2024	)24
	Notes	£′000	£′000	£′000	£′000		
Assets:							
Fixed assets:							
Investment assets			280,507		275,948		
Current assets:							
Debtors	8	101		177			
Cash and bank balances	9	2		1			
			103		178		
Total assets			280,610		276,126		
Liabilities:							
Creditors	10	(220)		(402)			
			(220)		(402)		
Total liabilities			(220)		(402)		
Net assets			280,390		275,724		
Unitholders' funds			280,390		275,724		

#### For the year ended 31 January 2025

#### 1 Accounting Policies

#### (a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of investments, and in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) for Financial Statements of Authorised Funds issued by the Investment Association in May 2014 (IMA SORP 2014) and FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

The Manager has undertaken a detailed assessment, and continues to monitor, the fund's ability to meet its liabilities as they fall due, including liquidity, declines in global capital markets and investor redemption levels. Based on this assessment, the fund continues to be open for at least the next 12 months after the financial statements are signed and the Manager is satisfied the fund has adequate financial resources to continue in operation and accordingly it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

#### (b) Valuation of investments

Investments have been valued at fair value as at the close of business on 31 January 2025. The SORP defines fair value as the market value of each security, in an active market, this is generally the quoted bid price.

Unlisted, unapproved, illiquid or suspended securities are valued at the Manager's best estimate of the amount that would be received from an immediate transfer at arm's length. The Manager has appointed a Fair Value Pricing committee to review valuations.

Collective Investment Schemes are valued by reference to their net asset value. Dual priced funds have been valued at the bid price. Single priced funds have been valued using the single price.

#### (c) Foreign Exchange

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the prevailing exchange rates as at the close of business on the reporting date.

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of such transactions. Exchange differences on such transactions follow the same treatment as the principal amounts.

#### (d) Dilution

In certain circumstances (as detailed in the Prospectus) the Manager may apply a dilution adjustment on the issue or cancellation of units, which is applied to the capital of the fund on an accruals basis. The adjustment is intended to protect existing investors from the costs of buying or selling underlying investments as a result of large inflows or outflows from the fund.

#### (e) Revenue

Overseas dividends are grossed up at the appropriate rate of withholding tax and the tax consequences are shown within the tax charge.

Revenue from collective investment schemes is recognised when the investments are quoted ex dividend.

Accumulation distributions from shares held in collective investment schemes are reflected as revenue and form part of the distribution.

Equalisation received from distributions or accumulations on units or shares in underlying investments is treated as capital and deducted from the cost of the investment.

Revenue from offshore funds is recognised when income is reported by the offshore fund operator.

Interest on bank deposits is recognised on an accruals basis.

Interest from short-term deposits is recognised on an accruals basis.

Stock dividends are recognised as revenue when they are quoted ex dividend. In the case of enhanced stock dividends, the value of the enhancement is recognised as capital.

#### Continued

Special dividends may be treated as repayments of capital or as revenue dependent on the facts of the particular case. Where receipt of a special dividend results in a significant reduction in the capital value of the holding, then the special dividend will be recognised as capital so as to ensure that the matching principle is applied to gains and losses. Otherwise, the special dividends are recognised as revenue.

Underwriting commission is taken to revenue and recognised when the issue takes place, except where the fund is required to take up all or some of the shares underwritten in which case an appropriate proportion of the commission received is deducted from the cost of the relevant shares.

For dividends received from US Real Estate Investment Trusts ("REITs"), on receipt of the capital/revenue split from the REITs, the allocation of the dividend is adjusted within the financial statements.

#### (f) Expenses

All expenses other than those relating to the purchase and sale of investments are charged against revenue on an accruals basis in the Statement of Total Return.

Expenses relating to the purchases of investments are charged to the cost of investment and expenses relating to the sales of investments are deducted from the proceeds on sales.

#### (g) Taxation

Provision is made for corporation tax at the current rate on the excess of taxable income over allowable expenses.

UK dividends are disclosed net of any related tax credit.

Overseas dividends are disclosed gross of any foreign tax suffered and the tax element is separately disclosed in the taxation note.

The tax accounting treatment follows that of the principal amount, with charges or reliefs allocated using the marginal basis regardless of any alternative treatment that may be permitted in determining the distribution.

Any windfall overseas tax reclaims received are netted off against irrecoverable overseas tax and therefore the irrecoverable overseas tax line in the taxation note may be negative.

Deferred taxation is provided on all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date other than those differences regarded as permanent. Any liability to deferred tax is provided at the average rate of tax expected to apply. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted to reflect the time value of money.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is regarded more likely than not that there will be taxable profits against which the reversal of underlying timing differences can be offset.

#### (h) Distributions

All of the net revenue available for distribution at the year end will be distributed. Where a fund has accumulation unitholders, this will be reinvested.

#### (i) Equalisation

Equalisation appears within the fund reports as part of the distribution. This represents the net revenue in the fund's unit price attached to the issue and cancellation of units. It will form part of any distributions at the period end attributable to unitholders.

#### 2 Risk management policies

Generic risks that the Aberdeen range are exposed to and the risk management techniques employed are disclosed below. Numerical disclosures and specific risks, where relevant, are disclosed within the financial statements.

The Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) Collective Investment Schemes Sourcebook (COLL) and FCA Funds Sourcebook (FUND) rules require the Management Company to establish, implement and maintain an adequate and documented Risk Management Process (RMP) for identifying the risks they manage, or might be, exposed to. The RMP must comprise of such procedures as are necessary to enable Aberdeen to assess the exposure of each fund it manages to market risk, liquidity risk, counterparty risk, operational risk and all other risks that might be material.

#### Continued

Aberdeen functionally and hierarchically separates the functions of risk management from the operating units and portfolio management functions, to ensure independence and avoid any potential or actual conflicts of interest. The risk management function has the necessary authority, access to all relevant information, staff and regular contact with senior management and the Board of Directors of the Company. The management of investment risk within Aberdeen is organised across distinct functions, aligned to the well-established 'three lines of defence' model.

- 1. Risk ownership, management and control.
- 2. Oversight of risk, compliance and conduct frameworks.
- 3. Independent assurance, challenge and advice.

The risk management process involves monitoring funds on a regular and systematic basis to identify, measure and monitor risk and where necessary escalate appropriately, including to the relevant Board, any concerns and proposed mitigating actions.

The risk team, in line with client expectations and the investment process, develops the risk profiles for the funds in order to set appropriate risk limits. Regulatory limits as well as those agreed, are strictly enforced to ensure that Aberdeen does not inadvertently (or deliberately) breach them and add additional risk exposure. In addition, there is an early warnings system of potential changes in the portfolio risk monitoring triggers. Where possible, these are coded into the front office dealing system, in a pre-trade capacity, preventing exposures or breaching limits before the trade is actually executed.

#### Risk Definitions & Risk Management Processes

- i) Market Risk is the risk that economic, market or idiosyncratic events cause a change in the market value of Client assets. Market Risk can be broadly separated into two types:
  - (1) Systematic risk stems from any factor that causes a change in the valuation of groups of assets. These factors may emerge from a number of sources, including but not limited to economic conditions, political events or actions, the actions of central banks or policy makers, industry events or, indeed, investor behaviour and risk appetite.
  - (2) Specific or Idiosyncratic Risk, which is the part of risk directly associated with a particular asset, outside the realms of, and not captured by Systematic Risk. In other words, it is the component of risk that is peculiar to a specific asset, and may manifest itself in various guises, for example: corporate actions, fraud or bankruptcy.

Portfolios are subject to many sub-categories of market risk. Many of these risks are interlinked and not mutually exclusive. Examples of these types of investment risk include: Country risk; Sector risk; Asset-class risk; Inflation/deflation risk; Interest rate risk; Currency risk; Derivatives risk; Concentration risk; and Default risk. Factors that cause changes in market risks include: future perceived prospects (i.e. changes in perception regarding the future economic position of countries, companies, sectors, etc.); shifts in demand and supply of products and services; political turmoil, changes in interest rate/inflation/taxation policies; major natural disasters; recessions; and terrorist attacks.

There are several ways in which to review and measure investment risk. The risk team recognises that each method is different and has its own unique insights and limits, and applies the following measurements for each fund, where relevant:

- Leverage: has the effect of gearing a fund's expected performance by allowing it to gain greater exposure to underlying investment opportunities (gains and losses). The higher the leverage the greater the risk (potential loss).
- Value-at-Risk (VaR) and Conditional VaR (CVaR): VaR measures with a degree of confidence the maximum the
  fund could expect to lose in any given time frame. Assuming a normal (Gaussian) distribution, this is a function
  of the volatility of the fund's returns. The higher the volatility, the higher the VaR, the greater the risk. CVaR
  calculates the expected tail loss, under the assumption that the VaR has been reached.
- Volatility, Tracking Error (TE): Volatility measures the size of variation in returns that a fund is likely to expect. The
  higher the volatility the higher the risk. TE measures the expected magnitude of divergence of returns between
  the fund and benchmark over a given time.

#### Continued

- Risk Decomposition: Volatility, tracking error and VaR may be broken down to show contribution from market related factors ("Systematic" Risk) and instrument specific (Idiosyncratic Risk). This is not a different measure as such, but is intended to highlight the sources of volatility and VaR.
- Concentration Risk: By grouping the portfolio into various different exposures (e.g. country, sector, issuer, asset, etc.), we are able to see where, if any, concentration risk exists.
- Stress Tests and Scenario Analysis: This captures how much the current portfolio will make or lose if certain market conditions occur.
- Back Testing: This process helps to assess the adequacy of the VaR model and is carried out in line with UCITS regulatory requirements (FCA COLL 6.12). Excessive levels of overshoots and the reasons behind them are reported to the Board.

To generate these risk analytics the risk team relies on third party calculation engines, such as APT, Bloomberg PORT+, RiskMetrics and Axioma. Once the data has been processed, it is analysed by the risk team, generally reviewing absolute and relative risks, change on month and internal peer analysis. Any issues or concerns that are raised through the analysis prompt further investigation and escalation if required. Breaches of hard limits are also escalated immediately. All client mandated and regulatory risk limits are monitored on a daily basis.

Stress tests are intended to highlight those areas in which a portfolio would be exposed to risk if the current economic conditions were likely to change. An economic event may be a simple change in the direction of interest rates or return expectations, or may take the form of a more extreme market event such as one caused through military conflict. The stress test itself is intended to highlight any weakness in the current portfolio construction that might deliver unnecessary systematic exposure if the market were to move abruptly.

Stress testing is performed on a regular basis using relevant historical and hypothetical scenarios.

ii) Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that a portfolio may need to raise cash or reduce derivative positions on a timely basis either in reaction to market events or to meet client redemption requests and may be obliged to sell long term assets at a price lower than their market value. Liquidity is also an important consideration in the management of portfolios: Portfolio Managers need to pay attention to market liquidity when sizing, entering and exiting trading positions.

Measuring liquidity risk is subject to three main dimensions:

- · Asset Liquidity Risk how quickly can assets be sold.
- Liability Risk managing redemptions as well as all other obligations arising from the liabilities side of the balance sheet.
- · Contingency Arrangements or Liquidity Buffers utilising credit facilities etc.

#### Liquidity Risk Management Framework

Aberdeen has a liquidity risk management framework in place applicable to the funds and set out in accordance with its overall Risk Management Process, relative to the size, scope and complexity of the funds. Liquidity assessment and liquidity stress testing is typically performed monthly, monitoring both the asset and liability sides. Asset side stressed scenarios are considered based on the nature of different asset classes and their liquidity risks to demonstrate the effects of a market stress on the ability to sell-down a fund. Liability side analysis includes stress scenarios on the investor profile as well as liabilities on the balance sheet. Any particular concerns noted or liquidity risk limit breaches are escalated to the relevant Committees and Boards, if material.

iii) Counterparty credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from the fact that the counterparty to a transaction may default on its obligations prior to the final settlement of the transaction's cash flow. Credit risk falls into both market risk and specific risk categories. Credit risk is the risk that an underlying issuer may be unable (or unwilling) to make a payment or to fulfil their contractual obligations. This may materialise as an actual default or, or to a lesser extent, by a weakening in a counterparty's credit quality. The actual default will result in an immediate loss whereas, the lower credit quality will more likely lead to mark-to-market adjustment.

#### Continued

Transactions involving derivatives are only entered into with counterparties having an appropriate internal credit rating that has been validated by the credit research team and approved by the relevant credit committee. Appropriate counterparty exposure limits will be set and agreed by these committees and the existing credit exposures will be assessed against these limits.

#### iv) Operational Risk

Operational risk can be defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events. Operational risk also includes the breakdown of processes to comply with laws, regulations or directives.

#### Operational Risk Management

An Operational Risk Management Framework is in place to identify, manage and monitor appropriate operational risks, including professional liability risks, to which the Management Company and the fund are or could be reasonably exposed. The operational risk management activities are performed independently as part of one of the functions of the Risk Division.

Aberdeen Group plc (formerly abrdn plc) (the "Group") Risk Management Framework is based upon the Basel II definition of operational risk which is "the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events".

The Group's management of operational risk is therefore aimed at identifying risks in existing processes and improving existing controls to reduce their likelihood of failure and the impact of losses. The Group has developed a framework that embodies continuous improvement to internal controls and ensures that the management of risk is embedded in the culture of the Group.

The identification, management, monitoring and resolution of events, risks and controls are facilitated via the Group's risk management system, Shield. The system is designed to facilitate the convergence of governance, risk and compliance programmes and automate a comprehensive review and assessment of operational risks.

#### 3 Net Capital Gains

	2025 £′000	2024 £′000
Non-derivative securities	68,073	32,234
Other gains	30	438
Transaction charges	(6)	(6)
Net capital gains	68,097	32,666

#### 4 Revenue

	2025 £′000	2024 £′000
Bank and margin interest	270	444
Overseas dividends	2,857	3,845
Overseas REIT	16	101
Total revenue	3,143	4,390

#### Continued

#### 5 Expenses

	2025	2024
	€,000	€,000
Payable to the Manager, associates of the Manager and agents of either of them:		
Manager's periodic charge	2,153	2,080
Registration fees	229	222
	2,382	2,302
Payable to the Trustee or associates of the Trustee, and agents of either of them:		
Safe custody fee	11	11
Trustee fees	40	27
	51	38
Other:		
Audit fee	9	9
	9	9
Total expenses	2,442	2,349

Irrecoverable VAT is included in the above expenses, where applicable. The audit fee for the year, including VAT, was £13,860 (2024: £12,960).

#### 6 Taxation

	2025 £′000	2024 £′000
(a) Analysis of charge in year		
Overseas taxes	386	555
Total taxation (note 6b)	386	555

#### (b) Factors affecting total tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is greater than (2024: greater than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK for authorised unit trusts (20%). The differences are explained below:

Net revenue before taxation	701	2,041
Corporation tax at 20% (2024: 20%)	140	408
Effects of:		
Revenue not subject to taxation	(571)	(769)
Overseas taxes	386	555
Overseas tax expensed	(1)	(3)
Excess allowable expenses	432	364
Total tax charge for year (note 6a)	386	555

Authorised unit trusts are exempt from tax on capital gains in the UK. Therefore, any capital gain is not included in the above reconciliation.

#### (c) Factors that may affect future tax charge

At the year end, after offset against revenue taxable on receipt, there is a potential deferred tax asset of £11,530,000 (2024: £11,098,000) due to surplus expenses. It is unlikely that the fund will generate sufficient taxable profits to utilise these amounts and therefore no deferred tax asset has been recognised in the current or prior year.

#### Continued

#### 7 Distributions

	2025 £′000	2024 £′000
Distribution	222	1,321
Add: Income deducted on cancellation of units	103	215
Deduct: Income received on issue of units	(10)	(50)
Total distributions for the year	315	1,486

Details of the distribution per unit are set out in this fund's distribution table.

#### 8 Debtors

	2025 £′000	2024 £′000
Accrued revenue	95	175
Overseas withholding tax recoverable	6	2
Total debtors	101	177

## 9 Liquidity

	2025	2024
	€,000	£′000
Cash and bank balances		
Cash at bank	2	1
	2	1
abrdn Liquidity Fund (Lux) - US Dollar Fund Z1 Inc*	5,279	7,910
Net liquidity	5,281	7,911

<sup>\*</sup> Although reflected in the investment assets figure, liquidity funds are used by the fund as a liquidity vehicle. Therefore, the Manager considers the net liquidity position of the fund as the aggregate of cash at bank and in hand, bank overdrafts and liquidity fund positions.

#### 10 Creditors

	2025 £'000	2024 £′000
Accrued expenses payable to the Manager	194	385
Accrued expenses payable to the Trustee or associates of the Trustee	18	7
Other accrued expenses	8	10
Total creditors	220	402

#### Continued

#### 11 Related Party Transactions

abrdn Fund Managers Limited, as Authorised Fund Manager, is a related party and acts as principal in respect of all transactions of units in the fund.

The aggregate monies received through issue and paid on cancellation of units are disclosed in the statement of change in unitholders' funds.

Any amounts due from or due to abrdn Fund Managers Limited at the end of the accounting year are disclosed in notes 8 and 10.

Amounts payable to abrdn Fund Managers Limited, in respect of expenses are disclosed in note 5 and any amounts due at the year end in note 10.

#### 12 Portfolio Transaction Costs

	Purch	nases	Sales	
	2025	2024	2025	2024
Trades in the year	£′000	£′000	€,000	£'000
Equities	49,870	64,445	110,520	111,133
Trades in the year before transaction costs	49,870	64,445	110,520	111,133
Commissions				
Equities	19	28	(34)	(42)
Total commissions	19	28	(34)	(42)
Taxes				
Equities	-	-	(3)	(1)
Total taxes	-	-	(3)	(1)
Total transaction costs	19	28	(37)	(43)
Total net trades in the year after transaction costs	49,889	64,473	110,483	111,090
	Purch	nases	Sc	ıles
Total transaction costs expressed as a percentage of	2025	2024	2025	2024
asset type cost	%	%	%	%
Commissions				
Equities	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.04
T-t-dttititi	-Al		2025	2024
Total transaction costs expressed as a percentage of net ass	et value		%	%
Commissions			0.02	0.03

At the balance sheet date the average portfolio dealing spread (i.e. the spread between bid and offer prices expressed as a percentage of the offer price) was 0.03% (2024: 0.02%), this is representative of the average spread on the assets held during the year.

#### Continued

#### 13 Units in Issue Reconciliation

	Opening	Creations	Cancellations	Closing
	units	during	during	units
	2024	the year	the year	2025
Institutional accumulation	55,862,866	7,312,757	(18,434,488)	44,741,135

#### 14 Fair Value Hierarchy

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under FRS 102 are described below:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for the identical unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Fair value of investment assets	2025 £′000 Level 1	2025 £'000 Level 2	2025 £'000 Level 3	2024 £'000 Level 1	2024 £'000 Level 2	2024 £'000 Level 3
Equities	275,228	-	-	268,038	-	_
Collective Investment Schemes	-	5,279	-	-	7,910	-
Total investment assets	275,228	5,279	-	268,038	7,910	-

#### 15 Risk Management Policies and Disclosures

The risks inherent in the fund's investment portfolio are as follows:

#### Foreign currency risk

Fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates can adversely affect the value of a portfolio. The following table details the net exposure to the principal foreign currencies that the fund is exposed to including any instruments used to hedge against foreign currencies, if applicable.

	Net foreign	Net foreign
	currency	currency
	exposure	exposure
	2025	2024
Currency	£′000	£′000
Canadian Dollar	2,330	2,223
US Dollar	278,280	273,903
Total	280,610	276,126

At 31 January 2025, if the value of Sterling increased or decreased by 5% against all other currencies, with all other variables remaining constant, then the change in net assets attributable to unitholders from investment activities will increase or decrease by approximately £14,031,000 (2024: £13,806,000).

#### Interest rate risk

The majority of the fund's financial assets are in non-interest bearing assets. Therefore, the fund's exposure to interest rate risk is considered insignificant. This is consistent with the exposure during the prior year.

#### Continued

#### Other price risk

The fund's investment portfolio is exposed to market price fluctuations which are monitored by the Investment Adviser in pursuance of the investment objectives and policies. Adherence to investment guidelines and to investment and borrowing powers mitigate the risk of excessive exposure to any particular type of security or issuer.

An increase or decrease in market values will therefore have a direct effect on the value of the investment assets in the portfolio and therefore a proportionate effect on the value of the fund.

As at 31 January 2025, if the prices of investments held by the fund increased or decreased by 5%, with all other variables remaining constant, then net assets attributable to the unitholders would increase or decrease by approximately £14,025,000 (2024: £13,797,000).

#### Financial derivatives instrument risk

The fund had no exposure to derivatives as at 31 January 2025 (2024: £Nil).

#### Liquidity risk

All of the fund's financial liabilities are payable on demand or in less than one year, 2025 £220,000 (2024: £402,000).

# **Distribution Table**

# For the year ended 31 January 2025 (in pence per unit)

#### Final dividend distribution

Group 1 - units purchased prior to 1 February 2024

Group 2 - units purchased between 1 February 2024 and 31 January 2025

Institutional accumulation	Revenue	Equalisation	Distribution paid 31/03/25	Distribution paid 28/03/24
Group 1	0.4960	-	0.4960	2.3654
Group 2	0.3422	0.1538	0.4960	2.3654

#### Equalisation

This applies only to units purchased during the distribution period (group 2 units). It is the average amount of revenue included in the purchase price of group 2 units and is refunded to the holders of these units as a return of capital. Being capital it is not liable to income tax but must be deducted from the cost of units for capital gains tax purposes.

# Remuneration (Unaudited)

#### Remuneration Policy

The Aberdeen Goup plc Remuneration Policy (the "Policy") applies with effect from 1 January 2024. The purpose of the Policy is to document clearly the remuneration policies, practices and procedures of Aberdeen as approved by the Aberdeen Group plc Remuneration Committee (the "Committee"). The Policy is available on request.

The Policy applies to employees of the Aberdeen group of companies ("**Group**" or "**Aberdeen**"), including UCITS V Management Companies ("**ManCos**") and the UCITS V funds that the ManCo manages.

#### **Remuneration Principles**

Aberdeen applies Group wide principles for remuneration policies, procedures and practices ensuring that:

- · Remuneration within the Group is simple, transparent and fair.
- Our Policy supports our long-term strategy by reinforcing a performance-driven culture. It aligns the interests of our employees, shareholders and, importantly, our clients / customers.
- Our remuneration structure is flexible to accommodate the different challenges and priorities across all businesses and functions as appropriate.
- Remuneration policies, procedures and practices promote good conduct, including sound and effective risk management and do not encourage risk taking that exceeds the level of tolerated risk appetite.
- Remuneration extends beyond the provision of fixed and variable pay, with a focus on the retirement provision and the wellbeing needs of our employees, as part of our remuneration philosophy.
- · Total remuneration delivered is affordable for the Group.

#### Remuneration Framework

Employee remuneration is composed of fixed and variable elements of reward as follows:

- a) Fixed remuneration (salary and cash allowances, where appropriate; and Benefits (including pension).
- b) Variable remuneration (bonus, a proportion of which may be subject to retention or deferral depending on role and regulatory requirements; senior employees may also be awarded a long-term incentive award).

Appropriate ratios of fixed: variable remuneration will be set to as to ensure that:

- a) Fixed and variable components of total remuneration are appropriately balanced; and
- b) The fixed component is a sufficiently high proportion of total remuneration to allow Aberdeen to operate a fully flexible policy on variable remuneration components, including having the ability to award no variable remuneration component in certain circumstances where either individual and / or Group performance does not support such an award.

# Remuneration (Unaudited)

#### Continued

#### Base salary

Base salary provides a core reward for undertaking the role and depending on the role, geographical or business market variances or other indicators, additional fixed cash allowances may make up a portion of fixed remuneration. Periodic reviews take into account the employee's role, scope of responsibilities, skills and experience, salary benchmarks (where available) and, where relevant, any local legislative or regulatory requirements.

# Benefits (including retirement benefit where appropriate)

Benefits are made up of core benefits which are provided to all employees; and extra voluntary benefits that may be chosen by certain employees which may require contribution through salary sacrifice or other arrangements.

Retirement benefits are managed in line with the relevant legislative requirements and governance structures. In certain, very limited circumstances, a cash allowance may be offered in lieu of a retirement arrangement.

#### Annual Performance Bonus Awards

Employees who have been employed during a performance year (1 January to 31 December) may be eligible to be considered for an annual bonus in respect of that year.

Annual bonuses are based upon Group, Business, Function, Team and Individual performance (with individual performance assessed against agreed goals and behaviours). The variable remuneration pool for all eligible employees, including Identified Staff or Material Risk Takers ("MRTs"), is determined initially by reference to profitability and other quantitative and qualitative financial and non-financial factors, incorporating consideration of all risk categories, including sustainability risks\* (on an ex-post and ex-ante basis). In reaching its final funding decision, the Committee exercises its judgement to ensure that the outcome reflects holistic Company performance considerations.

abrdn Fund Managers Limited has specific obligations to act in the best interests of the UCITS V funds it manages and its investors. Accordingly, the performance of the underlying funds and the interests of investors (including, where relevant, investment risk) are also taken into account as appropriate. The Risk and Capital Committee and the Audit Committee formally advise the Committee as part of this process.

The overall bonus pool is allocated to businesses and functions based on absolute and relative performance of each business and function and their alignment with strategic priorities and risk considerations. Allocation by region and subdivision / team is determined on a discretionary basis by the business / function and regional heads based on the absolute and relative performance of the constituent teams and alignment with strategic priorities.

Individual annual bonus awards are determined at the end of the 12-month performance period with performance assessed against financial and non-financial individual objectives, including behaviour and conduct. Individual awards for Identified Staff are reviewed and approved by the Committee (with some individual award approvals delegated, as appropriate, to the Group's Compensation Committee, over which the Committee retains oversight). In carrying out these approvals, the Committee seeks to ensure that outcomes are fair in the context of overall Group performance measures and adjusted, where appropriate, to reflect input from the Risk and Capital Committee and the Audit Committee. Variable remuneration awards are subject to deferral for a period of up to three years. A retention period may also be applied as required by the relevant regulatory requirements. Deferral rates and periods comply, at a minimum, with regulatory requirements. In addition to the application of ex-ante adjustments described above, variable remuneration is subject to ex-post adjustment (malus / clawback arrangements).

#### Other elements of remuneration – selected employees

The following remuneration arrangements may be awarded in certain very limited circumstances:

Carried Interest Plans - These arrangements are designed to reward performance in roles where a carried interest plan is appropriate. Selected employees are granted carried interest shares in private market funds established by the Group.

Buy-Out Awards / Guaranteed Bonuses – These are intended to facilitate / support the recruitment of new employees. Buyouts are not awarded, paid or provided unless they are in the context of hiring new employees. Guaranteed bonuses are not awarded, paid or provided unless they are exceptional and in the context of hiring new employees and limited to the first year of service. These awards are only made where such a payment or award is permitted under any relevant remuneration regulations and are designed to compensate for actual or expected remuneration foregone from previous employers by virtue of their recruitment.

Retention and Special Performance Awards / LTIP - Supports retention and / or the delivery of specific performance outcomes and / or to incentivise senior employees to support the long-term, sustained performance of Aberdeen. The Company may determine that it is appropriate to grant such awards in limited circumstances. Awards are structured to deliver specific retention and / or performance outcomes. Retention and / or special performance awards comply with all relevant regulatory requirements.

Severance Pay - Payment made to support an employee whose role is considered to be redundant. Severance payments comply with any legislative and regulatory requirements and any payments are inclusive of any statutory entitlement. In the event of severance, the treatment of any individual elements of an employee's remuneration is governed, as appropriate, by relevant plan or scheme rules.

<sup>\*</sup>According to SFDR, sustainability risk means an environmental, social or governance event or condition that, if it occurs, could cause an actual or a potential material negative impact on the value of the investment.

# Remuneration (Unaudited)

#### Continued

#### **Control Functions**

The Group ensures that, as appropriate, senior employees engaged in a control function are independent from the business units they oversee and have appropriate authority to undertake their roles and duties. These include, but are not necessarily limited to, Risk, Compliance and Internal Audit function roles. Senior employees engaged in a control function are remunerated in a way that ensures they are independent from the business areas they oversee, have appropriate authority and have their remuneration directly overseen by the Committee.

#### Conflicts of interest

The Policy is designed to avoid conflicts of interest between the Group and its clients and is designed to adhere to local legislation, regulations or other provisions. In circumstances or jurisdictions where there is any conflict between the Policy and local legislation, regulations or other provisions, then the latter prevail. Where the Committee receives input from members of management on the remuneration arrangements in operation across the Group, this never relates to their own remuneration.

#### Personal Investment Strategies

The Company adheres to the regulatory principles and industry best practice on the use of personal hedging strategies which act in restricting the risk alignment embedded in employee remuneration arrangements.

#### **UCITS V Identified Staff / MRTs**

The 'Identified Staff' or MRTs of abrdn Fund Managers Limited are those employees who could have a material impact on the risk profile of abrdn Fund Managers Limited or the UCITS V funds it manages. This broadly includes senior management, decision makers and control functions. For the purposes of this disclosure, 'Identified Staff' includes employees of entities to which activities have been delegated.

#### **Quantitative Remuneration Disclosure**

The table below provides an overview of the following:

- · Aggregate total remuneration paid by abrdn Fund Managers Limited to its entire staff; and
- · Aggregate total remuneration paid by abrdn Fund Managers Limited to its UCITS V'Identified Staff'.

Amounts shown reflect payments made during the financial reporting period in question. The reporting period runs from **1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024** inclusive.

		Total Remuneration
	Headcount	£'000
abrdn Fund Managers Limited <sup>1</sup>	1,011	143,746
of which		
Fixed remuneration		108,512
Variable remuneration		35,234
abrdn Fund Managers Limited 'Identified Staff' <sup>2</sup>	98	45,049
of which		
Senior Management <sup>3</sup>	40	28,552
Other 'Identified Staff'	58	16,497

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As there are a number of individuals indirectly and directly employed by abrdn Fund Managers Limited this figure represents an apportioned amount of Aberdeen's total remuneration fixed and variable pay, apportioned to the ManCo on an AUM basis. The Headcount figure provided reflects the number of beneficiaries calculated on a Full Time Equivalent basis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Identified Staff disclosure relates to UCITS V MRTs and represents total compensation of those staff of the ManCo who are fully or partly involved in the activities of the ManCo.
<sup>3</sup> Senior Management are defined in this table as ManCo Directors and members of the Aberdeen Group plc Board, together with its Executive and Group Operating Committees, Investment Executive members and the Chief Product and Marketing Officer.

#### **Further Information**

abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust is an authorised unit trust scheme, under the FCA regulations.

Consumers' rights and protections, including any derived from EU legislation, are currently unaffected by the result of the UK referendum to leave the European Union and will remain unchanged unless and until the UK Government changes the applicable legislation.

#### **Documentation and Prices**

The current Prospectus for the abrdn (Lothian) North American Trust is available to download at **www.aberdeeninvestments. com**. Copies of the Key Investor Information Documents (KIIDs) and the Annual (and if issued later the interim) Report and Accounts are available on request from the Manager.

#### Notices/Correspondence

Please send any notices to abrdn Fund Managers Limited, PO Box 12233, Chelmsford, CM99 2EE. Any notice to the Manager will only be effective when actually received by the Manager. All notices will be sent to the investor at the address set out in the Application form or the latest address which the investor has notified to the Manager, and will be deemed to have been received three days after posting. Events detailed in these terms and conditions will be carried out on the dates specified, unless the dates are a non-business day, when they will be carried out on the next business day.

#### Complaints and Compensation

If you need to complain about any aspect of our service, you should write to the Complaints Team, Aberdeen, PO Box 12233, Chelmsford, Essex, CM99 2EE, who will initiate our formal complaints procedure. If you prefer, you may call the Complaints Team on 0345 113 6966 or email **complaints@aberdeenplc.com** in the first instance. Alternatively if you have a complaint about the Company or funds you can contact the Trustee directly. A leaflet detailing our complaints procedure is available on request.

We will endeavour to respond to your complaint as soon as possible and will notify you of our outcome within 8 weeks. If the complaint is not resolved by us to your satisfaction then you may have the right take your complaint to the Financial Ombudsman Service (FOS). To contact the FOS Service you should write to The Financial Ombudsman Service, Exchange Tower, London, E14 9SR, email **complaint.info@financial-ombudsman.org.uk** or telephone 0800 023 4567 (free for landlines and mobiles) or 0300 123 9123 (calls cost no more than calls to 01 and 02 numbers) or +44 20 7964 0500 (available from outside the UK – calls will be charged).

We are covered by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme, which means if we become insolvent, you may be entitled to compensation. The level of compensation will depend on the type of business and the circumstances of your claim. Investments are covered up to £85,000 for claims against firms that fail on or after 1 April 2019. Details are available from the FSCS Helpline on 0800 678 1100 or 020 7741 4100 and on the FSCS website: www.fscs.org.uk.

#### **UCITS**

The fund was certified under the Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (UCITS) directive, which allows the Manager to market the fund in member States of the European Union subject to relevant local laws, specifically marketing laws.

#### Important Information

The above document is strictly for information purposes only and should not be considered as an offer, investment recommendation or solicitation, to deal in any of the investments or funds mentioned herein and does not constitute investment research. Aberdeen does not warrant the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the information and materials. Any research or analysis used in the preparation of this document has been procured by Aberdeen for its own use and may have been acted on for its own purpose. The results thus obtained are made available only coincidentally and the information is not guaranteed as to its accuracy. Some of the information in this document may contain projections or other forward looking statements regarding future events or future financial performance of countries, markets or companies. These statements are only predictions and actual events or results may differ materially. The reader must make their own assessment of the relevance, accuracy and adequacy of the information contained in this document and make such independent investigations, as they may consider necessary or appropriate for the purpose of such assessment. Any opinion or estimate contained in this document is made on a general basis and is not to be relied on by the reader as advice. Neither Aberdeen nor any of its employees, associated group companies or agents have given any consideration to nor have they or any of them made any investigation of the investment objectives, financial situation or particular need of the reader, any specific person or group of persons. Accordingly, no warranty whatsoever is given and no liability whatsoever is accepted for any loss arising whether directly or indirectly as a result of the reader, any person or group of persons acting on any information, opinion or estimate contained in this document. Aberdeen reserves the right to make changes and corrections to any information in this document at any time, without notice.

 $Is sued by a brdn Fund Managers \ Limited. Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct \ Authority in the \ United \ Kingdom.$